---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**19-1297**

---

**KENNETH LEE DOSS**

**V.**

**STATE OF IOWA**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE JUDGE RICHARD B. CLOGG.**

---

**DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Raya D. Dimitrova  
Carr Law Firm, P.L.C.  
300 Walnut Street, Suite 140  
Des Moines, Iowa 50309  
(515) 875-4868**

**ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT/  
APPELLANT**

**Thomas J. Miller  
Attorney General of Iowa  
Criminal Appeals Division  
Hoover State Office Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319**

**ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF/  
APPELLEE**

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

**I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS APPELLANT WAS NOT ADEQUATELY INFORMED OF THE EXTENT OF THE RULES AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIAL SENTENCE AT THE TIME OF HIS PLEA.**

**Authorities:**

State v. Hallock, 764 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Kress, 636 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Carney, 584 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 1998)

Meier v. State, 337 N.W.2d 204 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Warner, 229 N.W.2d 776 (Iowa 1975)

**II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE RULES OF APPELLANT'S SPECIAL SENTENCE AND PAROLE ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND ILLEGAL AS APPLIED TO HIM.**

**Authorities:**

Peckingham v. North Carolina, 137 S.Ct. 1730 (2017)

Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C., 512 U.S. 622 (1994)

State v. Tripp, 776 N.W.2d 855 (Iowa 2010)

Doe v. Nebraska, 898 F. Supp.2d 1086 (D. Neb. 2012)

United States v. Behren, 65 F. Supp.3d 1140 (Dist. Colo. 2014)

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal by the Appellant, Kenneth Doss (hereinafter “Appellant”), from the Order Denying Postconviction Relief in the District Court for Warren County, Iowa, before the Honorable Richard B. Clogg, presiding.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **Course of Proceedings and Disposition in District Court:**

On March 21, 2017, Appellant filed an Application for Postconviction Relief. (Application for PCR) (App. p. 6). The Application asked to eliminate the unconstitutional conditions of his special sentence and remand for entry of a sentence without the unconstitutional conditions, or in the alternative, reverse his conviction and remand his case for a new trial. (Application for PCR) (App. p. 6). Appellant filed a pro se letter with the district court, asking it to reconsider or correct his special sentence. (Motion to Reconsider) (App. p. 6). The district court denied the motion and stated Appellant’s complaints will be addressed in the postconviction relief trial. (Order Denying Motion to Reconsider) (App. p. 18). Attorney Angela Campbell was appointed to represent Appellant in his PCR trial. (Appearance) (App. p. 11).

A non-jury trial was held on May 24, 2019. (Trial Held Order) (App. p. 20). On July 29, 2019, the district court found Appellant’s trial counsel was not ineffective, that the court had no duty to inform him of the rules of his special parole

sentence, Appellant had not suffered prejudice, and the rules of his special sentence are constitutional. (Order Denying PCR) (App. p. 60). Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 2, 2019. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 69).

**Facts:** Appellant was charged with one count of Sex Abuse in the Third Degree, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.4(2)(B), a Class C felony, one count of Lascivious Acts with a Child in violation of Iowa Code § 709.8, a Class D felony, and one count of Indecent Contact with a Child in violation of Iowa Code § 709.12, an Aggravated Misdemeanor. (Amended Trial Information, FECR023573, 12/11/2006) (App. p. 5). This trial information was orally amended at the time of plea and Appellant ultimately pled guilty to one count of Lascivious Acts with a Child, a Class C felony, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.8. (Tr. p. 3, lines 17-25; p. 4, lines 1-14).

Appellant was represented by Blair Bennett at the time of the plea. At the time of the PCR trial Bennett did not recall representing Appellant. (Tr. p. 21, lines 13-16). With no recollection of representing Appellant, Bennett relied on his general practice testifying he would not get a copy of the special sentence prior to an individual plea to a sex offense, thus, he did not believe he had shown the special sentence to Appellant prior to his plea. (Tr. p. 23, lines 4-7). Although Bennett could not be certain, he testified he does not believe he would have known, or told, Appellant that the special sentence would have included not being able to attend



church or having a girlfriend without permission. (Tr. p. 23, lines 1-16). Additionally, Bennett agreed he probably did not go through any of the rules of the special sentence with Appellant prior to his plea. (Tr. p. 24, lines 17 – 21). Finally, Bennett testified he does not remember whether he went through the sex offender treatment contract with clients, or with Appellant specifically, prior to the plea. (Tr. p. 24, lines 22-25; p. 25, lines 1).

Appellant testified he is currently incarcerated at Newton Correctional Facility as a result of violating the rules of his special sentence. (Tr. p. 29, lines 20-25). Appellant testified he has a clear recollection of the conversations he had with Bennett leading up to his plea. (Tr. p. 30, lines 7-17). Appellant testified he had not seen copies of any rule for his special parole sentence, or the rules for sex offender treatment prior to his plea. (Tr. p. 32, lines 1-25; p. 33, lines 1-12). Prior to his plea, Appellant did not know what the rules for his special sentence were going to be, and while relying on Bennett’s assistance – Appellant believed, “as long as I followed the law, I would be okay.” (Tr. p. 33, lines 13-19). Appellant testified he and Bennett never had a conversation about the specific rules for his special sentence. (Tr. p. 34, lines 3-6). Appellant was unaware he could violate a rule of his special sentence – sending him back to prison, without violating the law. (Tr. p. 34) (lines 1-8).

On April 11, 2007, Appellant was sentenced to 10-years in prison, suspended and a lifetime probation parole under Iowa Code § 903B.1 (2005). (Exhibit 4; Exhibit 6) (App. p. 27; 44). On December 17, 2007, his probation was revoked, and he was ordered to serve the ten-year prison sentence. (Exhibit 8) (App. p. 46). After serving seven years and nine months, and discharging the ten-year prison sentence, Appellant was placed on parole to serve his lifetime special sentence pursuant to Iowa Code § 903B.1. (Tr. p. 31, lines 10-24). Appellant first saw the Parole Order & Agreement merely three (3) days prior to being discharged from his prison sentence. (Tr. p. 32, lines 1-13). On August 14, 2015, Appellant signed the Parole Order & Agreement (Exhibit 1) (App. p. 22). Appellant's probation officer, Joseph Swaim, confirmed that Appellant would not have been able to review Parole Order & Agreement prior to going to prison because it is generally prepared and presented to the inmate after they are in prison, and prior to discharge. (Tr. p. 17, lines 15 – p. 19, lines 1). Swaim further testified Appellant would not have been able to be released from prison and begin serving his special sentence until he signed the non-negotiable agreement. (Tr. p. 8, lines 11-20).

On October 31, 2016, Appellant was presented with and signed the required Sex Offender Treatment Program Rules & Conditions Contract. (Exhibit 2) (App. p. 25). According to Swaim, Appellant would not have gotten a copy of the Sex Offender Treatment Program Rules and Conditions before getting out of prison and

would not have even known those rules prior to leaving prison because the “prison does not go through those rules with them.” (Tr. p. 18, lines 2-7). The treatment contract was mandatory and if Appellant refused to sign it, he may have been sent back to prison. (Tr. p. 10, lines 22-25; p. 11, lines 1-12). Hence, Appellant did not know of the mandatory conditions and rules he would be subjected to for his life special sentence until August 14, 2015 for some rules, and October 31, 2016, for the remaining rules.

Appellant was subsequently revoked for violations of the terms of his special sentence imposed in FECR02573. Appellant is currently in the custody of the Iowa Department of Corrections. Petition for postconviction relief was filed March 21, 2017. Relief was denied on July 29, 2019. Notice of Appeal was filed August 2, 2019. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 69).

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Because this case involves an issue of first impression, transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals would not be appropriate pursuant to Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS APPELLANT WAS NOT ADEQUATELY INFORMED OF THE EXTENT OF THE RULES AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIAL SENTENCE AT THE TIME OF HIS PLEA.**

**Error preservation:** Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal, thus properly preserving the issue of sentencing for appeal.

**Standard of review:** Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. *State v. Clay*, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012). This is the standard as such claims have their “basis in the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” *State v. Canal*, 773 N.W.2d 528, 530 (Iowa 2009).

**Discussion:** Appellant has been denied effective assistance of counsel required by the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution when he was inadequately informed of the consequences of his plea prior to the entry of his plea, and he has suffered prejudice as a result. A successful ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) trial counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted. *State v. Bearse*, 748 N.W.2d 211, 214–15 (Iowa 2008).

To prove counsel failed to perform an essential duty, Appellant “must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” meaning that counsel “made errors so serious that counsel was not function as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed to defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). In measuring counsel’s performance, the court must determine “whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all of the circumstances.” *Id.* at 688.

Further, the court measures counsel's performance against the standard of a reasonably competent attorney. *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 138 (Iowa 2006).

As it relates to the first prong, Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel as he was not advised of the rules of his special sentence prior to his guilty plea, which are a direct consequence of the plea. Second, even if this Court finds the rules of Appellant's special sentence are collateral, Mr. Bennett was ineffective as he misinformed him of the consequences. Lastly, Appellant has suffered prejudice in either situation.

A. The Rules of Appellant's Special Sentence are a Direct Consequence of the Plea

A defendant waives several constitutional rights upon entering a guilty plea. *State v. Boone*, 298 N.W.2d 335, 337 (Iowa 1980). For this waiver to be valid, there must be an intentional relinquishment of known rights. *Id.* Due process requires defendants enter a guilty plea both voluntarily and intelligently. *Id.* To enter a guilty plea voluntarily and intelligently, a defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court has stated, defendants have a constitutional right to be informed of the consequences of their plea, especially ones "intimately related to the criminal process." *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 365 (2010).

Iowa Courts must ensure defendants understand "the direct consequences of the plea including the possible maximum sentence, as well as any mandatory

minimum punishment.” *State v. Carney*, 584 N.W.2d 907, 908 (Iowa 1998). A court does not have to ensure however, the defendant is informed of all indirect and collateral consequences of a guilty plea. *Id.* A consequence is neither indirect or collateral if it “represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant’s punishment.” *State v. Warner*, 229 N.W.2d 776, 782 (Iowa 1975) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Morrison*, 323 N.W.2d 254, 256 (Iowa 1982).

The Supreme Court of Iowa was faced with this issue in *State v. Hallock*, 764 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 2012). In *Hallock*, the Court had to determine whether the mandatory Iowa Code section 903B.2 ten-year parole provision was a direct consequence of the plea. *Id.* at 604-05. Iowa Code Section 903B.2 states:

A person convicted of a misdemeanor or a class “D” felony offense under chapter 709...shall also be sentenced in addition to any other punishment provided by law, to a special sentence committing the person into the custody of the director of the Iowa Department of Corrections for a period of ten years, with eligibility for parole as provided in chapter 906. The special sentence imposed under this section shall commence upon completion of the sentence imposed under any applicable criminal sentencing provisions for the underlying criminal offense and the person shall begin the sentence under supervision as if on parole.

The defendant in *Hallock* claimed his plea was not made knowingly and voluntarily. *Id.* at 604. Specifically, the defendant claimed he was never informed of this provision and argued he was not informed of the maximum possible punishment that might result from his plea as required by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b)(2). *Id.* The State countered by stating section 903B.2 is

merely a collateral consequence and the court had no obligation to inform him of this special sentencing provision. *Id.* at 605.

The Supreme Court of Iowa agreed with the Defendant. *Id.* The Court found section 903B.2 to be a sentencing provision. *Id.* Specifically, the Court found the title – “Special Sentence,” as well as the subchapter entitled “special sentencing” to be instructive. *Id.* The Court went on to say, “[t]he provision’s language includes ‘sentenced’ and ‘special sentence.’ It is the court, not the parole board or the Iowa Department of Corrections, that imposes this special sentence.” *Id.* at 605; *see also State v. Kress*, 636 N.W.2d 12, 20-21 (Iowa 2001). Lastly, the Court found that application of this section could subject Hallock to “additional imprisonment in excess of the maximum imprisonment to which he was sentenced for the underlying crime.” *Id.* at 605.

Here, the district court incorrectly found the rules of Applicant’s special sentence were merely collateral and offered no reason to support the conclusion. In fairness to the district court however, many consequences of guilty pleas have been held to be collateral: limitations on parole eligibility<sup>1</sup>, deportation<sup>2</sup>, prohibition of carrying a firearm upon conviction of third-degree theft<sup>3</sup>, ineligibility for a deferred judgement or suspended sentence and probation due to

---

<sup>1</sup> *Kinnersly v. State*, 494 N.W.2d 698, 700 (Iowa 1993).

<sup>2</sup> *Mott v. State*, 407 N.W.2d 581, 583 (Iowa 1987).

<sup>3</sup> *Saadiq v. State*, 387 N.W.2d 315, 325 (Iowa 1986).

prior convictions<sup>4</sup>, penal consequences of companion charge or effect of instant charge on the strength of the prosecutions proof in companion case<sup>5</sup>, and the effect of a conviction upon future convictions.<sup>6</sup>

Importantly, the special sentence is lifetime probation, non-negotiable, and automatic upon entering his plea and being released from custody. Further, Appellant can violate a rule of his special sentence without necessarily violating the law, effecting the range of his punishment. Hence, Appellant could be imprisoned for looking up local churches on the internet to take his girlfriend and her kid to. (Exhibit 2) (App. p. 25). This is a direct consequence of entering his plea and would violate many of the rules in his special sentence. Moreover, the rules in Appellant's special sentence are significantly more intrusive than the effect of future convictions, parole eligibility and ability to lawfully carry a firearm as listed above. Given the circumstances, this Court should find that the rules of Applicant's special sentence were a direct consequence of entering his plea and trial counsel and the Court failed to advise him of the rules. Without being advised of the rules of his special sentence, Appellant entered a guilty plea unknowingly and involuntarily. *See Hallock*, 764 N.W.2d at 604. Thus, Appellant's plea is invalid.

---

<sup>4</sup> *State v. Woolsey*, 240 N.W.2d 651, 653-54 (Iowa 1976).

<sup>5</sup> *State v. Warner*, 229 N.W.2d 776, 782 (Iowa 1975).

<sup>6</sup> *State v. Christensen*, 201 N.W.2d 457, 459 (Iowa 1972).



B. Even if the Rules of the Special Sentence are Collateral, Mr. Bennett Misinformed Appellant About the Special Sentence, Rendering his Assistance Ineffective

Even if this Court determines rules of Appellant's special sentence were "collateral," Appellant's trial counsel was ineffective for misinforming him. Specifically, the Supreme Court of Iowa has stated "there is no constitutional requirement that a judge provide advice relating to parole or the possibility of sentence deferral." *Meier v. State*, 337 N.W.2d 204, 207 (Iowa 1983). However, "that does not leave a court, or *an attorney*, to misinform a defendant regarding collateral consequences of his plea." *Id.* (emphasis added). The Second Circuit Court of Appeals found misstatements by defense counsel defeats a defendant's opportunity to enter a guilty plea knowingly and voluntarily. *Strader v. Garrison*, 611 F.2d 61, 65 (2d Cir. 1979). The Court in *Meier* quoted *Strader* saying:

One would not suppose that the collateral consequence rule [under which information regarding parole eligibility is not initially required]...would apply in a situation in which defendant's guilty plea was induced by actual misadvice respecting some collateral consequence when the consequence was of substantial importance to the defendant.

611 F.2d at 63.

In this case, Defendant was misinformed of the consequences of his plea, contrary to the holding in *Meier*. Mr. Bennett testified he has no independent recollection of representing Appellant. (Tr. p. 21, lines 13-20). Mr. Bennett testified he cannot remember what he told Appellant prior to the plea about the special sentence and the rules of the special sentences. (Tr. p. 25, lines 8-11). Further, Mr. Bennett stated he does not believe he would have retrieved a copy of

the special sentence rules from the probation and parole office prior to someone's plea to review it with the client. (Tr. p. 23, lines 4-8).

When specifically asked whether he would have had an understanding of what was going to be required of Appellant on the special sentence prior to the plea, Mr. Bennett testified he would merely have "some knowledge." (Tr. p. 23, lines 9-14). When asked whether it was possible he did not know Appellant would not be allowed to attend church, Mr. Bennett responded, "[i]t certainly is." (Tr. p. 23, lines 17-25). Mr. Bennett also testified it is possible he did not know Appellant would be required to obtain permission prior to having a girlfriend. (Tr. p. 23, lines 1-6).

Similar to Mr. Bennett, Appellant did not know the rules of his special sentence prior to his plea. In support of this conclusion, Appellant stated he had not seen a copy of any rules for his special sentence or the rules for the sex offender treatment program prior to his plea. (Tr. p. 32, lines 1-25; p. 33, lines 1-12). Appellant additionally testified Mr. Bennett told him as long as he followed the "actual law" he would be okay. (Tr. p. 33, lines 13-19). Appellant was misinformed by counsel he could violate a rule of his special sentence – sending him back to prison, that was not a violation of the law. (Tr. p. 34, lines 1-8).

Thus, the holding in *Meier* renders Mr. Bennett ineffective for misinforming Appellant regarding the consequences of his plea, regardless of whether they are

collateral. *Meier*, 337 N.W.2d at 207. Additionally, misadvice as to the consequence of a plea does not involve trial tactics or strategies, and places counsel below the range of normal competency. *Kress*, 636 N.W.2d at 21-22. This Court should find Mr. Bennett breached an essential duty to Appellant by misinforming him of the conditions of his special sentence and Appellant entered his plea unknowingly and involuntarily. *See Hallock*, 764 N.W.2d at 604.

C. Appellant has Suffered Prejudice Due to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In analyzing the prejudice prong, Appellant must establish he would not have entered the guilty plea but for the breach of duty by counsel. *State v. Brubaker*, 805 N.W.2d 134, 143 (Iowa 2001). A causal connection between the alleged breach of duty and the guilty plea must be established. *See State v. Utter*, 803 N.W.2d 647, 652 (Iowa 2011). Here, Appellant has shown he has suffered prejudice due to Mr. Bennett breaching an essential duty.

Specifically, Appellant testified he would not have plead guilty if he was going to have to follow the rules of his special sentence for the rest of his life. (Tr. p. 34, lines 12-18). Further Appellant testified there were specific rules that had he known of prior to entering a guilty plea, he would not have plead guilty.

Specifically, he would not have pled guilty if he knew any of the rules of his special sentence included:

- 1) Not having a girlfriend (Tr. p. 34, lines 19-25; p. 35, lines 1-8);

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