IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-1285

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KENNETH LEE DOSS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WARREN COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RICHARD B. CLOGG, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
Thomas.Bakke@ag.iowa.gov

DOUGLAS A. EICHHOLZ
Warren County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

Doss’s self-serving claim that his trial counsel misinformed him is not credible and this Court should reject it. *See Cole v. State*, No. 15-0344, 2016 WL 7395722, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2016)

(declining to find a breach of a constitutional duty based solely on applicant's self-serving testimony). And even if Doss's counsel had told him that, it did not rise to the level of affirmatively misleading him. This Court should reject Doss's claim and affirm.

C. Even if the underlying conditions of 903B supervision are direct consequences, Doss's counsel was not ineffective because the court substantially complied with rule 2.8(2)(b)(2).

A court need only substantially comply with Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b) before accepting a guilty plea. *See State v. Kirchoff*, 452 N.W.2d 801, 804 (Iowa 1990). "Substantial compliance is met unless the court's disregard for the requirements of rule [2.]8(2)(b) raises doubt as to the voluntariness of the plea." *State v. Yarborough*, 536 N.W.2d 493, 496 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995) (citing *State v. Fluhr*, 287 N.W.2d 857, 864 (Iowa 1980), *overruled on other grounds by Kirchoff*, 452 N.W.2d at 804). "Substantial compliance 'requires that the essence of each requirement of the rule be expressed to allow the court to perform its important role in each case.'" *State v. Weitzel*, 905 N.W.2d 397, 406 (Iowa 2017) (citing *State v. Meron*, 675 N.W.2d 537, 544 (Iowa 2004)).

The plea-taking court substantially complied and thus Doss's counsel was not ineffective even if the 903B supervision conditions

were direct consequences. Doss was informed that he would be placed on probation for life. Pet. Ex. 3 (Plea Hr'g Tr.) 10:11–:18. By being informed that he would be placed under supervision for life, Doss was put on notice there would be limitations on his freedoms. The court's notice was sufficient to convey the essence of the supervision and it was unnecessary to delve deeper into the underlying conditions. Doss's attorney was not ineffective because the court substantially complied with Rule 2.8(2)(b)(2).

D. Doss has failed to show he would have rejected a plea and insisted on proceeding to trial.

Even if there was a breach, Doss was not prejudiced. To show that he was prejudiced, Doss must show that but for counsel's breach, he would have rejected to plea and insisted on proceeding to trial. *See State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 138 (Iowa 2006). And Doss has failed to show he would have done so.

To support his claim of prejudice, Doss relies primarily on self-serving testimony he would have insisted on going to trial. *See* Appellant's Br. pp.19–21. But conclusory self-serving claims of prejudice are not sufficient to show a defendant would have insisted on proceeding to trial. *See, e.g., Kirchner v. State*, 756 N.W.2d 202, 206 (Iowa 2008) (citing *Wanatee v. Ault*, 101 F. Supp. 2d 1189, 1204

(N.D. Iowa 2000), *aff'd*, 259 F.3d 700 (8th Cir. 2001)) (“Kirchner offered no evidence to support his self-serving statement that he would have accepted the plea deal had he known the great likelihood of his conviction of first-degree kidnapping.”); *State v. Tate*, 710 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Iowa 2006) (rejecting self-serving statements as merely a conclusory claim of prejudice); *Smith v. State*, No. 09-1518, 2010 WL 4867384, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2010) (“[A] court does not have to accept this kind of self-serving claim.”). Doss’s testimony was not credible and it was insufficient to show prejudice.

In direct contradiction of Doss’s claim is the plea bargain itself. Before pleading guilty, Doss was charged with sexual abuse in the third degree (a class C felony), lascivious acts with a child (a class D felony), and indecent contact with a child (an aggravated misdemeanor). FECR023573 Am. Trial Info.; App. 5. Had Doss been convicted of all three charges he would have faced 17 years’ incarceration. *See* Iowa Code §§ 902.9(1), 903.1(2). And because sexual abuse is a forcible felony, Doss would not have been able to request a suspended sentence on that charge. *See* Iowa Code §§ 709.4(1), 907.3. But instead, Doss only had to plead guilty to a single charge and he was able to argue for (and received) a suspended

sentence with probation. *See* Pet. Ex. 3 (Plea Hr’g Tr.) 2:18–4:22, 7:13–8:20; Pet. Ex. 4 (Sent. Hr’g Tr.) 5:7–:22; Pet. Ex. 6 (Sent. Order); App. 44–45. And the record reflects Doss additionally received a dismissal on another assault charge in another case. *See* Pet. Ex. 3 (Plea Hr’g Tr.) 7:19–:21; Pet. Ex. 6 (Sent. Order) p.2 (referencing dismissal of another case number); App. 45. Doss received a substantial bargain and he has not shown that he would have rejected this opportunity and insisted on going to trial had he known of the potential rules and conditions he could receive as part of 903B supervision. This Court should reject his claim.

In addition to relying on his self-serving testimony, Doss attempts to point to facts that have happened years after his guilty plea as proof of prejudice. *See* Appellant’s Br. p.21 (discussing how the SOTP rules “really effected” Doss and that Doss has had his supervision revoked because he violated the conditions of supervision). But this Court should decline to consider such matters as they are irrelevant to the current inquiry. What matters is whether if at the time of Doss’s guilty plea if Doss would have insisted on going to trial, and even had Doss been informed of the particular rules and conditions he still would not have had the benefit of predicting the

future. And at the time of Doss's guilty plea, there is no evidence he would have rejected the favorable deal and insisted on going to trial.

Doss has failed to show he was prejudiced. This Court should reject Doss's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and affirm the district court's denial of his application for postconviction relief.

II. Doss's Parole was Lawfully Revoked and His Collateral Challenges Must be Pursued in the Proper Forum.

Preservation of Error

Doss's again claims he preserved error by filing a timely notice of appeal. Appellant's Br. p.22. As discussed above, he is wrong in making such an assertion. *Lange*, 831 N.W.2d at 846–47. While the State does not contest error preservation for the majority of the claims raised because they were raised (and rejected) in the district court, Doss did not preserve error for every argument made on appeal. *See* Pet. Post-Trial Br.; Order Denying; App. 47–68.

Specifically, on appeal Doss challenges the internet restrictions in the SOTP rules. *See* Appellant's Br. pp.23–24. But Doss did not challenge that rule below and it was not addressed by the PCR court. Pet. Post-Trial Br. p.10 (“Doss submits that the rules and requirements of his special sentence parole that restrict his dating, attending church, seeking counseling, and associating with people of

his choice, are unconstitutional and illegal as applied to him.”); Order Denying p.8; App. 56, 67. Even if such a challenge were permitted in PCR proceedings, the claim regarding internet use is not preserved, and this Court should decline to address it. *See Harper v. State*, 397 N.W.2d 740, 742 (Iowa 1986) (“On appeal, we should not address issues, even if of constitutional magnitude, if error has not been preserved on the issue in the postconviction court.”).

The State also notes that Doss appears to claim his challenge on appeal addresses an illegal sentence. *See* Appellant’s Br. p.22. But Doss is not challenging his sentence. He is only challenging the conditions and rules imposed by the IBOP as part of his supervision. Doss is not excused from error preservation.

Standard of Review

“Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo.” *State v. Stephenson*, 608 N.W.2d 778, 782 (Iowa 2000).

Merits

Doss attempts to use this appeal from PCR to allege that the conditions of his supervision—as imposed by the IBOP—are unconstitutional as applied to him because his supervision was revoked. But while Doss can claim in PCR that his parole/supervision

was unlawfully revoked (which he does not claim in this appeal likely because there is evidence that he violated the rules and he openly admits that he violated the rules), he cannot use such proceedings to make a collateral attack on the rules themselves because the rules were imposed as an agency action and are not themselves subject to chapter 822 review. *See* Iowa Code § 822.2(e); PCR Hr’g Tr. 12:25–13:23 (discussing the rules Doss violated leading to his revocation), 46:17–:20 (“Q. And you eventually violated those rules? A. Yes, I did. Q. That’s why you’re back in prison? A. Yes.”). This Court should decline to consider Doss’s claim because Doss is required to pursue the claim under chapter 17A where the IBOP can defend their agency actions.

The Iowa Court of Appeals has previously found that postconviction relief is not the correct forum to challenge conditions of parole:

The district court found PCR “proceedings are not an appropriate forum to challenge conditions imposed upon parolees.” The Board [of Parole] is a state agency subject to Iowa Code chapter 17A. As such, the judicial review provisions of chapter 17A are “the exclusive means by which a person . . . adversely affected by” the Board’s decisions may seek judicial review of those decisions. . . .

[T]he mere imposition of parole conditions does not squarely qualify for PCR.

Benford v. State, No. 17-1253, 2018 WL 3912118, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2018) (first omission in original) (footnote omitted) (quoting Iowa Code § 17A.19) (citing *Fraze v. Iowa Bd. of Parole*, 248 N.W.2d 80, 82 (Iowa 1976)). The Iowa Court of Appeals has repeatedly explained that challenges to the IBOP’s actions must be pursued under chapter 17A. *See, e.g., Fassett v. State*, No. 15-0816, 2016 WL 3554954, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. June 29, 2016) (“In effect, the district court ruled [the inmate] could not proceed under chapter 822 and should instead seek relief under chapter 17A. We agree. Chapter 822 does not include statutory authority for postconviction review of parole board policies.”); *Pierce v. State*, No. 09-1853, 2011 WL 3925484, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 8, 2011) (“We conclude chapter 17A furnished the exclusive means of challenging the Board’s action or inaction.”); *McKeag v. State*, No. 08-0752, 2009 WL 2169041, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 22, 2009) (explaining “[t]he parole board is a state agency governed by the Iowa Administrative Procedures Act, chapter 17A,” and “the judicial review provisions of chapter 17A are ‘the *exclusive means* by which a person . . . adversely affected by agency action may seek judicial review of such agency action,’ except

as expressly provided otherwise by another statute referring to chapter 17A by name”).

Because there is no authority to consider collateral challenges of supervision and parole conditions in PCR proceedings, the same should be true in an appeal from PCR proceedings. *See* Iowa Code §§ 822.2(1) (permitting proceedings under chapter 822 for only certain claims), 822.9 (authorizing appeal from PCR proceedings). This conclusion follows Iowa Court of Appeals decisions where the court has declined to consider claims made on appeal that would not be permitted in the underlying PCR proceedings. *See Mark v. State*, No. 17-0391, 2018 WL 3057444, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 20, 2018) (“Becker finally claims trial counsel and postconviction counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge the amount of restitution owed. . . . We find this claim cannot be brought in the present action.”); *Phillips v. State*, No. 99-1846, 2000 WL 1827368, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 13, 2000) (“Phillips’s final complaint is that his postconviction counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to properly assert his claim that trial counsel should have challenged the district court’s order imposing the payment of court costs and attorney fees without inquiring as to his ability to pay. We conclude his restitution

complaint is not properly before this court. Errors relating to victim restitution, court costs, or fees are not subject to collateral attack through the postconviction process under chapter 822. Other procedures exist for Phillips to address the issue of restitution.” (citations omitted)). This Court should decline to address the merits of a claim in an appeal from PCR proceedings when such a claim is not permitted in PCR proceedings at all.

The very rules Doss contests demonstrate why chapter 17A proceedings are the appropriate forum to address his claims. The SOTP rules state—twice—that they could have been changed or amended upon request by Doss to his parole officer, the IBOP, or the SOTP team. Pet. Ex. 2; App. 25–26. Thus, Doss had administrative remedies he could have pursued instead of simply ignoring—and violating—the rules and making collateral attacks on the backend. And chapter 17A proceedings would have required that Doss exhaust his administrative remedies before he could proceed to judicial review. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(1). In judicial review constitutional challenges, such as what Doss is attempting to make, can be raised and resolved. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(a) (granting court power in chapter 17A proceedings to correct agency actions that are

“[u]nconstitutional on its face or as applied”). And in such proceedings, the agency (such as the IBOP or the IDCS) could have responded to Doss’s claims or amended the SOTP rules if Doss’s claim had merit. But because Doss waited to make a collateral attack in chapter 822 proceedings, the respective agencies are not parties to the present appeal, and they were deprived of the opportunity to either defend or fix any alleged deficiencies.³

Had Doss correctly pursued his claim under chapter 17A, he would have been required to provide notice to the agencies, thus providing them an opportunity to respond. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(2). Instead, because Doss used chapter 822 proceedings, the record does not reflect that the IBOP (or any other relevant administrative agency) was informed of his collateral attack on their agency actions. This Court should decline to consider Doss’s claims because he must pursue his challenge of the agencies’ actions in the correct forum.

The State recognizes that “an impediment to the court's authority can be obviated by consent, waiver or estoppel.” *State v.*

³ Although Counsel represents the State in this appeal, Counsel does not represent the IDOC, the IDCS, or the IBOP.

Davis, 581 N.W.2d 614, 616 (Iowa 1998) (citing *State v. Mandicino*, 509 N.W.2d 481, 483 (Iowa 1993)); see also *Franklin v. State*, 905 N.W.2d 170, 171–72 (Iowa 2017) (explaining distinction between authority and subject matter jurisdiction). And it appears the State below did not argue there was a lack of authority. However, the circumstances of this case demonstrate why it is important to ensure chapter 17A proceedings are utilized when an agency action is implicated. Because the IBOP (and any other relevant State agencies) was not notified about Doss’s claims, it had no opportunity to respond. It would make little sense to conclude that an agency’s action can be reviewed in an improper forum with the incorrect parties when the agency never had an opportunity to waive their participation or to raise defenses such as the failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The IBOP appears to have never been notified this case was ongoing or that their agency actions were being contested. Permitting a claim to proceed in the manner Doss is attempting would subvert the intent of the legislature which crafted chapter 17A as the “exclusive means” to contest agency actions and included requirements that the agency be actually notified of such proceedings.

Because Doss's collateral challenge to the conditions of his supervision is not permitted in postconviction relief proceedings, this Court should decline to consider this claim. Doss can only challenge agency actions under chapter 17A, not chapter 822.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the dismissal of Kenneth Lee Doss's application for postconviction relief.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

Oral submission is unnecessary.